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Department of the Registrar

Contact  
Details

This Report

The report describes the functions and operations of the Department of the Registrar (the Department) 
outlining performance and outputs during the 2020/21 reporting year and presents audited financial 
statements and performance indicators for the year ended 30 June 2021.

This report does not include the performance and outputs of the Western Australian Industrial 
Relations Commission (the Commission), as the Commission reports directly to Parliament via the Chief 
Commissioner’s Annual Report.

Availability and Accessibility of this Report

This report can be downloaded in PDF format from the Department of the Registrar’s website at  
www.dotr.wa.gov.au/index.php/publications/annual-reports.

Alternative formats are available on request.

Contact Details

Office Address Postal Address Telephone Fax

Level 17 
111 St Georges Tce 
PERTH WA 6000

Locked Bag 1 
Cloisters Square 
PERTH WA 6850

(08) 9420 4444 
Freecall in WA 
1800 624 263

(08) 9420 4500 
Freefax in WA 
1800 804 987

Internet

www.dotr.wa.gov.au

www.wairc.wa.gov.au 

Email

registry@wairc.wa.gov.au
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Overview of the Agency

Executive  
Summary

Performance Highlights

The Department of the Registrar, Western Australian Industrial Relations 
Commission (the Department), is responsible for ensuring the efficient 
operation of the industrial relations regime in Western Australia via six 
broad interrelated functions including:

	ß Administration of the Industrial Relations Act 
1979 (WA) (the IR Act)

	ß Enabling the community and industrial 
relations practitioners to engage with the 
industrial relations regime in Western Australia

	ß Enabling the operations of the Western 
Australian Industrial Relations Commission (the 
Commission) and its various tribunals

	ß Enabling the operations of the Industrial 
Magistrates Court of Western Australia (IMC)

	ß Facilitating the transmission of matters to  
the Western Australian Industrial Appeals  
Court (IAC)

	ß Ensuring Industrial Organisations and Industrial 
Agents adhere to the requirements of the IR Act.

The community’s access to justice through 
tribunals and courts cannot be fulfilled without the 
appropriate infrastructure, and knowledgeable 
departmental employees being available to 
assist parties to prepare and present their cases 
in accordance with the IR Act. The Department 
prides itself on the way it has helped parties to 
effectively engage with an increasingly complex 
industrial relations jurisdiction. Through effective 
knowledge management, technology and 

proactive engagement with the community and 
stakeholders, the Department has implemented 
services that are community informed and of the 
highest calibre.

During this financial year, the Department 
delivered a best practice website that facilitates 
broad access to industrial relations knowledge 
and processes, the ability to lodge and exchange 
documentation, and the ability to share 
information on a 24/7 basis.

Like other Western Australian organisations, the 
Department was again subject to office closure 
and remote operations in response to COVID-19. 
Nonetheless, the lessons learned from the first 
lockdown in March 2020 and the Department’s 
ongoing enhancement of its remote operations 
meant all departmental activities continued in a 
seamless manner. Remote operations form part 
of the Department’s business continuity and 
management plan.

Changed work practices required for remote 
operations have also driven the Department’s 
emphasis on convenience for the community, 
and a focus on minimising the more traditional 
regimented process that create barriers to 
efficiency, and a focus on eliminating red tape. 
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The Department is well placed to ensure robust 
administration of the IR Act, access to justice by 
the community, and business continuity for the 
Commission and the IMC in the event of any future 
requirements for the Department to work remotely. 

The Department is a values driven organisation, 
in particular “excellence in customer service”, 
“respect for others” and “innovation” have been 
hallmarks of our service delivery. Those values are 
reflected in the Department’s Key Performance 
Indicator results. A survey of the various parties 
who accessed the industrial relations regime 
revealed a satisfaction level of 99% for timeliness 
and 97% for accuracy and relevance.

The Department continued to build on the 
success of the “Access to Justice” initiative, 
strengthening its relationship with private sector 
law firms in respect to pro-bono legal advice 
services. Similarly, the Department has engaged 
with university law departments with a view 
to enhancing the profile of industrial relations 
amongst students and to expose them to 
opportunities for the provisions of assistance to 
the community.

The Department continues to host regular 
information sessions run by Circle Green 
Community Legal (formerly the Employment Law 
Centre) pertaining to conciliation conferences and 

attendance at court for parties who are likely to 
engage with the Commission. Satisfaction surveys 
of attendees are overwhelmingly positive. 

The Department’s business diversification program 
continues to ensure maximum usage of our 
facilities by promoting the Department’s hosting 
capability for external inquiries and arbitrations. 
This year, the Department is facilitating the 
Perth Casino Royal Commission, an arrangement 
that was enabled on short notice to fit the 
government’s timeframe. This business model 
enables maximum usage of facilities and provides 
the Department with funds to enable best 
practice evidentiary processes and broadcasting 
capacity, while reducing the Department’s draw 
on consolidated revenue.

Finally, “cooperation and team spirit” is another 
of the Department’s Values, and it has been 
demonstrated in abundance by staff of the 
Department throughout the year and particularly 
during remote operations and I thank everyone for 
their commitment. 

Susan Bastian

Chief Executive Officer
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Operational  
Structure

The Department

The Department’s structure reflects the accountabilities of the IR Act and 
the Public Sector Management Act 1994 (WA) (PSM Act) placed on the 
Chief Executive Officer.

The Department provides the Commission and the 
IMC with the physical and virtual infrastructure, 
human resource functions, administrative and 
financial resources, integral to perform their roles, 
as specified in the IR Act.  The Commission’s 
other jurisdictions of the Occupational Safety 
and Health Tribunal, the Road Freight Transport 
Industry Tribunal and other constituent authorities 
are supported likewise. The Department also 
provides the administrative support necessary for 
the lodgement of appeals to the IAC. 

In terms of broader industrial regime 
accountabilities, the Department provides the 
infrastructure, administration, advice and support 
services that enable the general community, 
unions, employer associations and government 
agencies, to make applications and commence 

processes necessary to ensure compliance with 
the IR Act, and which form part of the Registrar’s 
accountabilities and those of the Commission, IMC 
and IAC.

All interactions with the Department are triaged 
into workstreams, including the Commission, 
IMC, IAC, Registrar’s accountabilities, Industrial 
Agent assessment and knowledge management. 
The Department is also responsible for the 
administration of the legislative obligations of 
the IR Act placed on employer and employee 
representative organisations. Such triaging 
includes the provision of significant knowledge 
based procedural advice, research support, and 
information necessary to ensure access to the 
various jurisdictions given the individual context of 
each interaction.
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Structure

Senior Officers

Susan Bastian – Chief Executive  
Officer and Registrar

Susan holds the office of Chief Executive Officer 
of the Department. She is also appointed as the 
Registrar of the Commission and the Clerk of Court 
to the IMC. As the Chief Executive Officer, Susan 
is the Accountable Authority as prescribed in 
section 52 of the Financial Management Act 2006 
(WA). Susan has extensive experience in industrial 
relations, administration and senior management 
within the public sector.

Kendra Hagan – Deputy Registrar

(LLB (Hons), BSW)

Kendra’s career has been one focused on access 
to justice. She worked for several years as a social 
worker before graduating with First Class Honours 
in Law in 2010. Kendra specialised in industrial and 
employment law with unions and the community 
legal sector before her appointment as Deputy 
Registrar in May 2021.

Peter Groves – Executive Director

(Bach App Sci Psych, AGIA)

Peter has over 17 years’ senior management 
experience in corporate governance and 
compliance in both the public and private 
sectors. In addition, he has extensive experience 
as a principal policy adviser within a Ministerial 
office and as a member on national boards and 
committees dealing with policy, management  
and strategy.

Michael Hadfield – Executive Director,  
Finance Data and Technology

(B. Comm, CA, MAICD)

Michael is a Chartered Accountant and a member 
of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. 
He has over 17 years’ experience as a senior 
executive in the private sector and has managed 
large finance and corporate services teams in 
several industries, as well as serving as a Director 
and Company Secretary to a number of listed  
and private companies.

Alison Phillipson – Director,  
Governance and Culture

Alison comes from a Western Australian union 
background and joined the Department in 
2003. Alison has many years’ experience as a 
senior manager in the finance and corporate 
services area within the Department. Alison’s 
accountabilities include the Department’s 
corporate governance, workplace culture and 
workforce development. 

Overview of the Agency
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Diagram 1 – Organisational Chart 

Our Values

Excellence in Customer Service

We provide a professional, effective and timely 
service to internal and external customers.

Innovation and Continuous improvement

We actively explore opportunities to enhance 
service delivery.

Accountability and Integrity 

We are honest, open and accountable for our 
decisions and actions. 

Respect and Inclusiveness

We believe in the equality of all people and treat 
everyone accordingly.

We value diversity and respect others.

Cooperation and Team Spirit

We collaborate and work together to achieve 
organisational objectives.

Executive Assistant 

Deputy Registrar 

Registry  
Services 

Registered 
Organisations

Information 
Services

People and 
Culture

Executive Director Director Governance  
and Culture

Executive Director, Finance,  
Data and Technology

Finance and 
Administration 

Information 
Communication 
and Technology 

 Chief Executive Officer / Registrar  
Susan Bastian 

Department of the Registrar, Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission
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Administered Legislation

The Department administers the operation of  
the Industrial Relations Act 1979 (WA) on behalf  
of the Minister.

Other Key Legislation Impacting  
on the Department’s Activities

In the performance of its functions, the 
Department complies with the following relevant 
written laws:

	ß Auditor General Act 2006 (WA)

	ß Corruption, Crime and Misconduct Act  
2003 (WA)

	ß Disability Services Act 1993 (WA)

	ß Equal Opportunity Act 1984 (WA)

	ß Financial Management Act 2006 (WA)

	ß Freedom of Information Act 1992 (WA)

	ß Legal Deposit Act 2012 (WA)

	ß Library Board of Western Australia Act  
1951 (WA)

	ß Long Service Leave Act 1958 (WA)

	ß Minimum Conditions of Employment Act  
1993 (WA)

	ß Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 (WA)

	ß Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003 (WA)

	ß Public Sector Management Act 1994 (WA)

	ß Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 (WA)

	ß State Records Act 2000 (WA)

	ß State Supply Commission Act 1991 (WA). 

Enabling Legislation

The Department was established in 1989 pursuant 
to section 35 of the Public Sector Management 
Act 1994 (WA).

Responsible Minister

The Honourable Stephen Dawson MLC, Minister 
for Mental Health; Aboriginal Affairs; Industrial 
Relations.

Mission Statement

To provide the Western Australian Industrial 
Relations Commission, and the Industrial 
Magistrates Court with the support and services 
integral to enabling the operation of the industrial 
relations regime in Western Australia.

To provide enhanced knowledge and support 
services to enable the general community, unions, 
employer associations and government agencies, 
to access the industrial relations jurisdictions of the 
Commission, IMC and IAC, and to ensure registered 
organisations comply with their Industrial Relations 
Act 1979 (WA) obligations.

Overview of the Agency
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Framework

Outcome Based Management Framework

The Department exists to assist the Minister for Industrial Relations in the 
administration of the IR Act and is constructed to provide the services, 
support and infrastructure to enable the Commission, the IMC and the IAC 
to achieve their objectives pursuant to the IR Act.

The Department’s performance is measured 
against the efficiency and effectiveness of its 
service provision to the community, unions, 
other government departments, and industry 
stakeholders during their engagement with the 
Department.

All community interactions with the Department 
are triaged into a variety of work streams, 
including the Commission, IMC, IAC, industrial 
agents, registered organisations and knowledge 
management. 

Such triaging includes provision of advice on 
process and the sufficiency of the information 
provided to access to the various jurisdictions. 
Once applications are accepted into the industrial 
relations jurisdiction, the Department performs 
administrative and statutory functions to facilitate 
the process. 

The Registrar regularly consults with the Chief 
Commissioner, Industrial Magistrates and other 
stakeholders on the effectiveness and efficiency of 
the Department with the view of ensuring optimal 
service delivery and accountability.

The Key Performance Indicators were devised in 
conjunction with the Department of Finance as 
a measure to reflect year to year changes. Key 
Effectiveness Indicators measure the achievement 
of desired outcomes. The Key Efficiency Indicators 

monitor the relationship between the service 
delivered and the cost associated with delivering 
the service. 

Government Goal

Sustainable Finances: Responsible financial 
management and better service delivery.

Departmental Desired Outcome

The Department contributes to the prevention 
and resolution of industrial relations matters. In 
so doing, the Department’s activities positively 
contribute to the government’s goal of Sustainable 
Finances: responsible financial management and 
better service delivery.

Services

Key Effectiveness/Efficiency Indicators:

Service 1

Services and infrastructure support that facilitates 
access by the community, unions, government 
departments and industry representatives to the 
Commission, IMC and IAC.

Service 2

Activities undertaken by the Department pursuant 
to the Industrial Relations Act 1979 (WA), to 
facilitate Conciliation and Arbitration by the 
Commission. 
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Service 2 outcomes are reported by the Chief 
Commissioner. The Commission relies on the 
Department to manage and report on its financial 
affairs. However its activities are not subject to the 
reporting requirements placed on the Department. 
The Commission reports directly to Parliament 
via an annual report compiled by the Chief 
Commissioner.

Key Effectiveness Indicators

	ß Timeliness of services

	ß Accuracy and relevance of  
documentation and information

Key Efficiency Indicator

	ß Average cost per application

Changes to Outcome Based  
Management Framework

The Department’s Outcome Based Management 
Framework did not change during the 2020/21 
reporting period.

Shared Responsibility with Other  
Government Agencies

The Department remained focused on leveraging 
government ICT procurement. Migration to all 
GovNext platforms is now complete, including 
connectivity to GovNext ICT via the GovNet Core 
network, telephony, and Cloud based services.

The Department continued its relationships with:

	ß the Department of Local Government, Sport 
and Cultural Industries – Culture and the Arts 
(WA), for the provision of bureau services for 
the Department’s finance and procurement 
administration

	ß the Department of Justice, sharing 
infrastructure in regional areas and 
administrative support for Industrial 
Magistrates

	ß the Department of Mines Industrial Relations 
and Safety, by facilitating an ongoing rotation 
of public sector labour relations graduates 
through the Department.

The Department also facilitates the delivery 
of payroll and leave reconciliation services to 
five small government departments through a 
contractual relationship with an external service 
provider. This arrangement ensures that costs are 
defrayed across each agency.

The various arrangements deliver cost effective 
and efficient solutions enabling the Department to 
achieve the financial and economic goals set by 
the government.

Overview of the Agency
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Actual Results versus Budget Targets

Financial Targets

The information shown in Table 1 demonstrates the Department’s financial performance for the year.

Actual Results to budget targets
2020/21 
Target(1) 
$000s

2020/21 
Actual  
$000s

Variation(2)  
$000s

Note

Total cost of services (expense limit) 
(sourced from Statement of 
Comprehensive Income)

12,284 12,310 (26) a

Net cost of services (sourced from 
Statement of Comprehensive Income)

12,204 12,148 56 b

Total equity (sourced from Statement 
 of Financial Position)

7,907 7,928 21 c

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 
(sourced from Statement of Cash Flows)

(117) (749) (632) d

Approved salary expense level 5,770 5,852 (82) e

Table 1 – Financial Targets Actual Results versus Budget Targets

(1)	 Targets are as specified in the Budget Statements. 				 

(2)	 Further explanations are contained in Notes 2.1, 2.2, 6.3, 7.1 ‘Explanatory statement’ to the  
financial statements.				  

(a)	 The variation is mainly due to the Department’s ongoing facilitation of digital court facilities and 
remote access capability during the COVID-19 pandemic.

(b)	 The Department’s miscellaneous revenue collections were more than budgeted.		

(c)	 The variation is mainly due to reduced accounts payables.				  

(d)	 Year end deficit and asset purchase.				  

(e)	 The variation was mainly due to voluntary redundancy payments during the year.			 
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Working Cash Targets

The information shown in Table 2 demonstrates the Department’s working cash actual results against 
budget targets for the year.

Actual Results To Budget Targets 

2020/21

Agreed 
Limit

$000s

2020/21

Target(1) 
Actual(2)

$000s

VARIATION

$000s

Note 

 

Agreed Working Cash Limit (at Budget) 581 581    

Agreed Working Cash Limit (at Actuals) 622 1,175 553 f

Table 2 – Working Cash Targets Actual Results versus Budget Targets.

(f)	 The Department carries higher current leave liabilities as per statutory requirements, particularly due 
to higher SAT salary levels for the Commission. In addition, it has also to carry forward funding for 
projects that have commenced but are to be completed in the next financial year.			 

Key Performance Indicators

Key Effectiveness Indicator

Effectiveness is measured by the percentage of stakeholders satisfied with the service provided by the 
Department in relation to timeliness, accuracy and relevance of information.

The government requires that there be an effective means for preventing or resolving employment 
disputes between employers and employees. It established the Commission and IMC for this purpose and 
the Department is required to ensure the necessary physical and information frameworks, resources and 
support services are available to achieve their purpose.

The quality of the service provided by the Department significantly affects the ability of the Commission 
to effectively perform its role. The services provided to the Commission include registry services, support 
staff, administrative services and infrastructure facilities.

Key Effectiveness Indicators
2020/21 
Target

2020/21 
Actual

Variation

Timeliness 90% 99% 9%

Accuracy and Relevance of Information 90% 97% 7%

Table 3 – Key Effectiveness Indicators

Timeliness, accuracy and relevance of information are key indicators as they demonstrate that the 
Department’s frameworks, resources and support services are delivered effectively and meeting the 
objectives of the IR Act.
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The table reflects that the Actuals for 2020/21 for Effectiveness Indicator for Timeliness exceeded the 
target by 9%. The Actuals for the Effectiveness Indicator for Accuracy and Relevance exceeded the  
target by 7%.

Key Efficiency Indicator

Service 1: Support to the Commission and IMC.

Efficiency is measured by the average cost per application.

Key Efficiency Indicators
2020/21 
Target(1)

2020/21 
Actual

Variation

Average Cost per Application $5,524 $4,451 $1,073

Table 4 – Key Efficiency Indicator

The cost per application is derived by dividing the total cost for Service 1, by the number of applications 
received. This measure is impacted by the differing legislative provisions associated with the diverse 
array of application types and the nuances within the industrial relations regime at any given time. These 
factors influence the number of applications lodged.

The number of registered and recorded applications for the year was higher than the target, and the 
average cost per application was $4,451 which is lower than the target cost per application of $5,524.  
The variance was $1,073 (19%).  
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Registry Services Overview

The Department’s Registry team is responsible 
for triaging all applications for sufficiency and 
assisting applicants to obtain the knowledge 
to enable them to appropriately prepare their 
documentation to commence processes within 
Western Australia’s industrial relations regime. 
Thereafter, the team facilitates knowledge transfer 
in terms of accountabilities of applicants and 
industrial relations practitioners appearing before 
the Clerk of Court, IMC and Commission.

The team also facilitates the statutory functions of 
the Registrar including:

	ß maintenance and publication of State awards 
and industrial agreements 

	ß ensuring compliance with the IR Act 
accountabilities of registered employee and 
employer organisations

	ß providing judicial support roles within the IMC 
including administrative preparation for  
pre-trial conferences by the Clerk of Court. 

The Registry team consistently demonstrates 
strong public sector commitment to quality 
professional engagement with parties, 
stakeholders, industrial relations practitioners 
and the community. This has been clearly 
demonstrated by the positive feedback received 
in the Department’s annual client survey with a 
99% efficiency and 97% accuracy rating achieved. 

The team provides all stakeholders with access to 
accurate and appropriate information, resources, 
legislation and associated industrial awards 
and agreements that address their personal 
circumstances. 

The complexity of the interaction between Registry 
staff and the community is sometimes heightened 
by circumstances of disadvantage where parties 
require additional support to address barriers to 
inclusion and access, including languages other 
than English, or disability. Therefore, the Registry 
has access and inclusion services available, 
including hearing loops and access to interpreters. 

Importantly, all Registry staff have undertaken 
professional development training to enable them 
to better support community members who may 
have heightened emotions when interacting with 
the Registry. Our Registry team has undertaken 
first aid for mental health training, which benefits 
those with whom we interact and serves to ensure 
a safe working environment for all.

Our Registry team is adept at tailoring support 
to effectively meet the challenges that arise in 
circumstances of specific need or significant levels 
of disadvantage.

Registry - IMC Operations

The IMC exercises state jurisdiction conferred 
under the IR Act and other State employment 
related legislation, and Federal civil jurisdiction 
conferred under the Fair Work Act 2009 (Cth) 
(FW Act). The IMC exercises both general and 
prosecution powers, as defined in section 81CA of 
the IR Act.

The IMC’s jurisdiction operates contiguous to 
that of the Commission and although part of the 
industrial relations framework, is quite separate. 
It addresses alleged breaches of legislation and 
industrial awards and agreements made under the 
state IR Act and the FW Act.

Agency Performance
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The IMC also exercises prosecution powers in accordance with the Criminal Procedure Act 2004 
(WA). Matters under this jurisdiction include the legislative obligations arising out of the Children and 
Community Services Act 2004 (WA), relevant to the employment of children.

The Registry team provides the jurisdictional support necessary for the functioning of the IMC, from 
commencement to the cessation of matters including:

	ß all administrative functions

	ß court officer functions during court hearings, trials, and pre-trial conferences

	ß undertaking research and overseeing case management of claims

	ß proofreading and issuing of decisions and orders

	ß fielding any subsequent enquiries about appeal rights once final orders have been made.

The complexity of this jurisdiction has required the development of enhanced research and knowledge 
management functions in support of the Registry team. Matters such as an alleged breach of the FW Act 
can require many hours of preparation and research prior to listing pre-trial conferences before the Clerk 
of the Court. The Registry team consistently achieves high praise for its service delivery and capability.

The diagram below represents some of the application categories received and dealt with during the 
reporting period.  

	 Pro Bono Referrals (1%)

	 Public Service  
	 Arbitrator Matters (5%)

	 Requests for 		
	 Mediation (2%)

	 Contractual  
	 Entitlement Claims (4%)

	 Conference pursuant  
	 to s 44 IR Act (6%)

	 Industrial Instrument 	
	 Matters (6%)

	 Unfair Dismissal 		
	 Claims (8%)

	 Registered Organisation 	
	 Matters (31%)

	 Chief Commissioner 
	 sitting alone, Full Bench  
	 and IAC Jurisdiction (3%)

	 Industrial Magistrates 	
	 Court Matters (29%)

	 Other Jurisdiction (5%) 

Registered Organisation Matters include:

	ß filing of reporting requirements in accordance with the IR Act

	ß applications for amendments to, or substitution of, the registered rules of an organisation

	ß administration of the conduct of elections for committees of management

	ß requests for right of entry permits

	ß applications to suspend or cancel the registration of organisations.
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The ‘Chief Commissioner sitting alone, Full Bench 
and IAC Jurisdiction’ matters include, for example: 

	ß appeals against decisions of the Commission, 
IMC and Public Service Arbitrator

	ß applications for declarations pursuant to 
section 71 of the IR Act 

	ß applications for the stay of operations of an 
order pursuant to section 49 of the IR Act.

The category identified as ‘Other Jurisdiction’ 
relates to applications for:

	ß referrals pursuant to PSM Act

	ß appeals pursuant to the Vocational Education 
and Training Act 1996 (WA)

	ß commission in Court Session matters

	ß matters before the Road Freight Transport 
Industry Tribunal

	ß matters before the Occupational Safety and 
Health Tribunal.

Additional matters of note include: 

	ß 233 awards affected by the 2020 State Wage 
Case General Order

	ß 82 awards affected by the 2020 Location 
Allowance General Order

	ß three matters related directly to the COVID-19 
General Order [2020] WAIRC 00279

	ß three matters were industrial matters related to 
COVID-19.

Registry – Awards and Agreements / 
Gazette

The preparation, coordination and administration 
associated with the lead up to the 2021 State 
Wage Case, the subsequent decision, and the 

communication of the decision to the community is 
a significant undertaking, involving many areas of 
the Department. The Registry team is responsible 
for ensuring all calculations and relevant updates 
and amendments to awards and agreements are 
finalised and published in accordance with the 
Commission’s General Order.

Section 93(3) of the IR Act requires the Registrar to 
publish in the Western Australian Industrial Gazette 
(WAIG), all awards and orders. In addition, all 
notices and matters listed in Schedule 1 of the IR 
Act must be published, including:

	ß retirements from industrial agreements

	ß all decisions and published reasons for 
decision of the Commission, the IAC and  
the IMC

	ß all Directions and Orders which alter the 
qualifications for membership of any 
organisation, the area in respect of which the 
organisation is registered, or the name of the 
organisation

	ß a list of organisations registered under the 
IR Act and the registered offices of those 
organisations

	ß notifications of the appointment of any person 
as chairperson or member of a Board of 
Reference

	ß any matter which is prescribed, or which is 
directed by the IAC or the Chief Commissioner 
to be published, or which the Registrar may 
consider should be published.

The Department is proud of the integrity of the 
information contained in these records. The WAIG 
is a valuable resource often utilised by employers, 
employees and their representatives to determine 
historical wage rates within State awards and 
industrial agreements. 

Agency Performance
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Registry – Registered Organisations

Registered Organisations are employee or 
employer industrial organisations or associations 
registered under the IR Act which represent the 
interests of their members. To maintain registration, 
Registered Organisations must comply with the 
legislative and regulatory requirements under 
the IR Act and Industrial Relations Commission 
Regulations 2005 (WA) (Regulations) including in 
relation to constitutional rules, elections, annual 
financial reporting and officers and membership 
reporting. For 2020/2021, these Registered 
Organisations reported a combined membership  
of 179,168.

This year, the Department designed a guidance 
framework which was released to the parties 
listed under section 50 of the IR Act and broader 
stakeholders during December. The guidance 
framework is designed to ensure compliance with 
the legislative and regulatory requirements under 
the IR Act and the Regulations including in relation 
to finances, constitutional rules, elections and 
annual financial, and officers and membership 
reporting.

Accordingly, the Department focused on 
additional pro-active monitoring to ensure 
organisations maintain compliance with the 
legislative obligations associated with registration, 
and that those organisations are representative of, 
and accountable to, their members. 

The Department’s regulatory intervention has 
contributed to an increase in the quality of 
compliance within annual returns, and an increase 
overall in the percentage of returns lodged within 
the statutory timeframes. 

The Department also regularly works in 
collaboration with the Registered Organisations 
Commission regarding investigations into non-
compliance which may involve Federally registered 
organisations and their Western Australian State 
counterparts registered under the IR Act.

The Department also provides regular education 
and assistance to organisations to promote 
voluntary compliance, including provision of 
information and procedural advice.

Registry – Right of Entry Authorisation

Sections 49H and 49I of the IR Act allow duly 
authorised Registered Organisation officials to 
enter the workplaces of relevant employees. A 
relevant employee is defined by the IR Act as one 
who is a member of, or eligible to be a member 
of the relevant Registered Organisation. For 
Registered Organisation officials to be issued 
with a Right of Entry Permit, an application must 
be made to the Registrar by the Secretary of the 
relevant Registered Organisation. 

As of 30 June 2021, the number of 
current permits was 330.



Annual Report 2021  |  Department of the Registrar, Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission16

Report on  
Operations

Registry – Access to Justice 

Quality community engagement is the focus of 
our access to justice initiative, with the objective 
of ensuring all members of the community and 
industrial relations practitioners access the 
information they require when they need it. 

The Department continues to build the relationship 
with private sector law firms enabling additional 
access to free legal advice for those who are the 
most in need and limited in resources. Similarly, 
the Department hosts information sessions that 
are run by Circle Green Community Legal formerly 
known as the Employment Law Centre, which are 
available to applicants and respondents, and their 
representatives, to unfair dismissal applications 
and contractual benefit claims.

Unrepresented applicants and claimants are 
often vulnerable or disadvantaged members of 
the community, seeking assistance and guidance 
on how to resolve industrial relations and related 
issues. Registry staff, as the first point of contact, 
triage inquiries to identify which matters may 
be relevant to the jurisdictions and provide 
procedural information and referral services where 
appropriate. 

The Department assists access to the Commission 
through the coordination and administration 
of the Commission’s Pro Bono Scheme. The 
scheme provides access to free legal advice and 
assistance to eligible, unrepresented employers 
and employees.

Eligibility for the scheme is assessed against 
several criteria, including:

	ß financial and/or social disadvantage

	ß capacity, financial or otherwise, to access a 
fee for service lawyer, union or professional 
association

	ß the existence of barriers to accessing the 
justice system including mental and physical 
disability, languages other than English, 
cultural requirements, literacy difficulties or 
homelessness

	ß the complexity of the matter, including whether 
the applicant for the scheme is experiencing 
significant difficulties understanding the 
process to which they are a party.

Referral for assistance is at the discretion of 
a Commissioner or the Registrar. Neither a 
Commissioner nor the Registrar is obligated to 
refer an unrepresented litigant for assistance and 
there is no guarantee a legal practitioner will be 
available to accept the referral. However, where 
an employer or employee is assessed as eligible 
for the scheme, all endeavours are made to secure 
pro bono assistance from a participating law firm.

The scope of the scheme includes most areas 
of the Commission’s jurisdiction, except for the 
Commission sitting as the Occupational Health 
and Safety Tribunal. 

Pro bono assistance provided through the scheme 
includes:

	ß obtaining advice

	ß receiving assistance drafting documents and 
preparing for conference or hearing

	ß representation (in limited circumstances).

Agency Performance
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In the 2020/21 reporting period, there were 
regular monthly referrals to the Pro Bono Scheme 
by the Commission and Registrar. Most parties 
that were successful in obtaining pro bono legal 
assistance achieved timely resolution of their 
matters, resulting in more efficient and effective 
court processes and use of court resources. Where 
legal assistance was unable to be obtained, in 
some instances the Department was successful 
in referring parties to the Circle Green Community 
Legal for advice and assistance. The importance 
of these services to those who are unfamiliar with 
the industrial relations regime and unable to afford 
representation cannot be underestimated. 

The Commission, Registrar and the Department 
acknowledge the continuing, generous 
participation of the following law firms and 
organisations:

	ß Ashurst Australia

	ß Clayton Utz

	ß DLA Piper

	ß Jackson McDonald

	ß John Curtin Law Clinic

	ß Kott Gunning Lawyers

	ß Mare Lawyers / Workwise Advisory Services

	ß MDC Legal 

	ß MinterEllison

	ß Norton Rose Fulbright.

Participating law firms provide invaluable time and 
expertise to members of the community who would 
otherwise not have access to legal support. 

Similarly, Circle Green Community Legal facilitated 
by the Department, delivers free information 
sessions for applicants and respondents about 
conciliation conferences in claims of unfair dismissal 
and denied contractual benefits. 

The information sessions are held at the 
Department and include information about:

	ß the legal considerations that underpin claims of 
unfair dismissal or denied contractual benefits

	ß making and responding to jurisdictional 
objections

	ß applications to the Commission that are 
outside of the prescribed time

	ß what to expect from a conciliation conference 
and who should attend

	ß what happens if you reach agreement with the 
other party

	ß what happens if you do not reach agreement 
at the conference.

As a result of matters beyond the Department’s 
control, including lockdowns due to the COVID-19 
pandemic, there were a reduced number of 
information sessions conducted over the reporting 
year. There have been four information sessions 
facilitated by the Department. Feedback from 
participants has been extremely positive:

	ß 100% reported they felt more comfortable 
dealing with their matter before the 
Commission

	ß 100% reported they found the session useful or 
very useful

	ß 100% rated the service as good or excellent.
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Where participants identify any barriers to 
attendance at the seminars, such as speaking 
languages other than English or residing in a rural 
or remote location, the Commission and Circle 
Green Community Legal arrange for alternative 
methods to deliver the information session content. 
To date, this has included facilitating video links to 
the sessions and scheduling one on one sessions 
for participants requiring an interpreter.

The Department is pleased to be a part of an 
initiative that increases the community’s access 
to information and justice and demystifies the 
processes and protocols associated with bringing 
or defending a claim at the Commission. 

A special thanks to the staff at Circle Green 
Community Legal for their innovation and 
delivery of professional, accessible, and insightful 
information sessions. 

The Registrar / Clerk of the Court /  
Deputy Registrar

The Registrar of the Commission is also appointed 
under the IR Act as the Clerk of the Industrial 
Magistrates Court (Clerk), a power that can be 
delegated by the Registrar to a Deputy Registrar. 
The Clerk is responsible for conducting pre-trial 
conferences for claims under the court’s general 
jurisdiction, with the exception of those claims 

seeking to enforce orders of the Commission and 
claims under the Construction Industry Portable 
Paid Long Service Leave Act 1985 (WA). 

The contribution made by the Clerk at pre-
trial conferences enables early intervention 
and often pragmatic resolution of otherwise 
intractable and complex industrial matters. As 
such, the community is afforded early intervention 
alternative dispute resolution at minimal cost to 
assist in the settlement of disputes. 

In the last financial year, 304 applications were 
lodged for matters to proceed to the IMC, 
including: 

	ß small claims matters under the FW Act

	ß alleged breaches of State and federal 
instruments of the FW Act

	ß enforcement of Commission Orders. 

Of those applications, 100 matters proceeded to 
a pre-trial conference before the Clerk, to assist 
the parties to reach, or work towards, a resolution 
of the dispute. Of those matters, 37 were resolved 
at the pre-trial conference or prior to hearing.  The 
Industrial Magistrates resolved 72 matters, 47 of 
which were from the previous financial year and 
awarded wages in 46 instances, totalling $661,647. 
Penalties were imposed in resolution of nine 
applications, with a total value of $141,141.

Agency Performance
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Corporate Operations

Corporate services are provided by the Finance, 
People and Culture, Information Services, and 
Information and Communications Technologies 
(ICT) teams.  The activities of each team are 
focused on ensuring compliance with public sector 
standards and the legislative accountabilities of 
the Public Sector Management Act 1994 (WA). 

Finance and Administration Team

The Finance and Administration Team is 
accountable for, the delivery of prudent 
financial management, the development and 
management of the Department’s budget and 
the control of assets in compliance with the 
Financial Management Act 2006 (WA), Treasurer’s 
Instructions, relevant accounting standards, as 
well as public sector and internal policies and 
guidelines.

The Department’s budget includes the salaries 
and on-costs for Commissioners, their Associates, 
and all employees of the Department, as well 
as the associated infrastructure and service 
costs that enable the achievement of the IR Act 
objectives and accountabilities.

The Department is one of the first public sector 
agencies to be audited by the Office of the 
Auditor General immediately after the close of 
the financial year. The timing of this audit requires 
effective planning and meticulous organisation by 
the Finance and Administration team throughout 
the year to ensure audit readiness well before the 
year end audit commences.

This year the Finance and Administration team 
transitioned to a paperless environment and 
will embark on transitioning from our existing 
accounting system to a more contemporary 
accounting system in the next financial year.

Information Services 

The Information Services team provides a 
comprehensive research, information and 
document management service to the 
Commission, IMC and the Department. The team 
also manages the Commission’s library and 
provides induction and training programs that 
include sessions with training specialists from 
Thomson Reuters, LexisNexis, and Wolters Kluwer, 
both in-house and online, as well as personalised 
instruction on records/information management.

The team maintains an approved Recordkeeping 
Plan (RKP) that ensures records are created, 
managed, and disposed of in accordance with 
recordkeeping principles and standards issued 
by the State Records Commission (SRC) and the 
requirements of the State Records Act 2000 (WA) 
(SR Act). 

The Department’s RKP was renewed during 2018, 
along with the Retention and Disposal Schedule. 
The renewal process provided assurance that 
the RKP was achieving the intention of the SR 
Act. The Department’s recordkeeping training 
program is reviewed using feedback received 
from participants. The program is also adjusted 
in response to amendments to the SR Act, SRC 
standards and principles and the RKP. 

This year Information Services embarked on a 
project to transition the Department and the 
Commission to a digitally focused information 
management environment, in which the digital 
document will be regarded as ‘best evidence’.  
The new digital environment will be supported by 
a policy framework that will keep the Department 
compliant with our legislative requirements.  
Completion of the project will ensure the 
Department is better placed to meet the 
technological changes, community expectations 
for the future, and government priorities.

Agency Performance
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People and Culture

This year the People and Culture team focused 
on ensuring the Department’s staff are suitably 
trained and mentored to enable them to meet the 
anticipated expansion of the industrial relations 
jurisdictions over the next 12 months. The retention 
of staff in key business areas has been at the 
forefront of the People and Culture team. Various 
engagement strategies are being considered 
to enhance a sense of community within the 
Department.

Specifically, the team focused on ensuring 
appropriate people management processes were 
employed throughout capability reviews and 
subsequent implementation of change initiatives. 
Similarly, the objectives of the Workforce and 
Diversity Plan were reviewed to ensure they were 
appropriately articulated and implemented to 
align with the goals of the government and Public 
Sector Commission.  

Additionally, the performance development 
process draws a clear connection between the 
goals of government, the values and objectives of 
the Department, and the individual contribution 
each staff member makes to those goals, 
objectives, and values. Performance Development 
Plans have been completed for all departmental 
employees, identifying developmental 
opportunities and strategies which look to 
increase employee capability whilst identifying 
opportunities to utilise the existing workforce in 
new ways. 

The Department’s Integrity Framework has been 
strengthened to ensure all employees understand 
and adhere to public sector accountabilities. The 
annual Accountable and Ethical Decision Making 
training continues to be provided to all employees 
designed to ensure behavioural expectations are 
understood and aligned with the Department’s 
Code of Conduct and the Public Sector Code of 
Ethics.

OSH and Wellness

The People and Culture team’s primary 
goals include the creation of a safe working 
environment, fostering good organisational culture, 
and developing workforce capability. 

All new employees receive an Occupational Safety 
and Health (OSH) induction including information 
on policies, procedures as well as instruction 
on their obligations and responsibilities. The 
employee assistance program and mental health 
training is offered to all staff. The Department’s 
OSH representatives conduct regular inspections 
throughout the workplace to mitigate any 
workplace hazards that may exist. The OSH 
Committee is responsible for ensuring safety 
related conversations are continuous in the day-
to-day operations of the Department and ensure 
OSH matters are appropriately handled and 
escalated if required.

Ongoing health and wellness initiatives are made 
available to all employees including:

	ß ergonomic assessments

	ß ergonomic workstations 

	ß flu vaccine program

	ß skin cancer screening 

	ß mental health awareness training

	ß onsite massages.

Agency Performance
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Information and Communication  
Technology (ICT)

COVID-19 continues to test the business continuity 
plans of the Department. However, the planning 
undertaken by the ICT team and routine remote 
operations by departmental staff, ensured 
successful transition to remote operations in each 
instance of COVID-19 related lockdown during the 
past year. 

In particular, the ICT team’s planning and 
migration of all operational servers to the Cloud 
has ensured the Department, Commission, and 
IMC can operate digitally via Virtual Personal 
Networks (VPN), ZOOM and Teams software in the 
event of a reoccurrence of COVID-19 or any other 
interruption to normal operations. 

A best practice Commission website was launched 
in January 2021. The website is the culmination 
of two years’ research with stakeholders and 
significant development and consultation across 
the Department with particular emphasis on the 

work undertaken by the ICT Developers, Registry 
and Chambers staff. The website reflects the 
contemporary needs of the community and is 
well structured to meet the evolving jurisdictional 
changes.

Additionally, the ICT team is prioritising developer 
resources to enable the website to contain a 
complete history of the various industrial decisions 
made since the commencement of the industrial 
relations regime in Western Australia in 1901. 
This database will have considerable historical 
importance and provide a comprehensive research 
centre for all interested parties.

Throughout the year, the ICT team has been 
engaged in many projects associated with 
business continuity. Importantly, they concluded 
a complete refresh of our telephony, bringing 
scalable, disaster resistant telephony across the 
organisation, as well as long term financial savings. 
This completes the Departments transition to each 
pillar of the GovNext ICT strategy.
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Current and emerging issues and trends

In 2017, the Western Australian Government commissioned the Ministerial review of the State industrial 
relations system which proposed significant changes to the industrial relations regime. The review, in 
conjunction with the Wage Theft Inquiry of 2019, culminated in the tabling of the Industrial Relations 
Legislation Amendment Bill 2020 (WA) (the Bill).  Aligned with current election commitments, the 
reintroduction of the Bill foreshadows increased jurisdictional responsibilities for the Department and 
therefore it is likely to impact on the Department’s resources.

Changes in written law

Nil

Likely developments and forecast results of operations

As legislative amendments are introduced, the Department will establish appropriate processes and 
mechanisms to give effect to any changes and ensure the continued effective administration of the 
industrial relations regime and support for the Commission, IMC and IAC, Industrial Organisations, 
Industrial Agents and the community. 

Agency Performance
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7th Floor Albert Facey House 469 Wellington Street Perth    MAIL TO: Perth BC PO Box 8489 Perth WA 6849    TEL: 08 6557 7500    

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S OPINION 
2021 

Department of the Registrar, Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission 
 
 
To the Parliament of Western Australia 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 
Opinion 
I have audited the financial statements of the Department of the Registrar, Western Australian 
Industrial Relations Commission (Department) which comprise: 
 
• the Statement of Financial Position at 30 June 2021, and the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows and Summary of 
Consolidated Account Appropriations for the year then ended 

• Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.  

In my opinion, the financial statements are:  
 
• based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all material respects, the operating results 

and cash flows of the Department of the Registrar, Western Australian Industrial Relations 
Commission for the year ended 30 June 2021 and the financial position at the end of that 
period  

• in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Financial Management Act 2006 
and the Treasurer’s Instructions. 

Basis for opinion 
I conducted my audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements section of my report.  
 
I am independent of the Department in accordance with the Auditor General Act 2006 and the 
relevant ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards Board’s APES 
110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) 
that are relevant to my audit of the financial statements. I have also fulfilled my other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  
 
I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for my opinion. 
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Responsibilities of the Chief Executive Officer for the financial statements 
The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for:  
 
• keeping proper accounts 

• preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards, the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s 
Instructions 

• such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for:  
 
• assessing the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern 

• disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 

• using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Western Australian Government 
has made policy or funding decisions affecting the continued existence of the Department. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial statements. The objectives of my audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  
 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of the financial statements. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control. 
 
A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on 
the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website. This description forms part of my auditor’s 
report and can be found at https://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf.   
 

Report on the audit of controls  
Opinion 
I have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the design and implementation of 
controls exercised by the Department of the Registrar, Western Australian Industrial Relations 
Commission. The controls exercised by the Chief Executive Officer are those policies and 
procedures established to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the 
acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with 
legislative provisions (the overall control objectives). 
 
My opinion has been formed on the basis of the matters outlined in this report. 
 
In my opinion, in all material respects, the controls exercised by the Department of the Registrar, 
Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission are sufficiently adequate to provide 
reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and 
disposal of property and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative 
provisions during the year ended 30 June 2021. 
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The Chief Executive Officer’s responsibilities 
The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining controls 
to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of 
property and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial Management Act 
2006, the Treasurer’s Instructions and other relevant written law. 

Auditor General’s responsibilities  
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility as an assurance practitioner is to 
express an opinion on the suitability of the design of the controls to achieve the overall control 
objectives and the implementation of the controls as designed. I conducted my engagement in 
accordance with Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3150 Assurance Engagements on 
Controls issued by the Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. That standard 
requires that I comply with relevant ethical requirements and plan and perform my procedures to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether, in all material respects, the controls are suitably 
designed to achieve the overall control objectives and were implemented as designed. 
 
An assurance engagement involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the 
suitability of the controls design to achieve the overall control objectives and the implementation 
of those controls. The procedures selected depend on my judgement, including an assessment 
of the risks that controls are not suitably designed or implemented as designed. My procedures 
included testing the implementation of those controls that I consider necessary to achieve the 
overall control objectives.  
 
I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. 

Limitations of controls 
Because of the inherent limitations of any internal control structure, it is possible that, even if the 
controls are suitably designed and implemented as designed, once in operation, the overall 
control objectives may not be achieved so that fraud, error or non-compliance with laws and 
regulations may occur and not be detected. Any projection of the outcome of the evaluation of 
the suitability of the design of controls to future periods is subject to the risk that the controls may 
become unsuitable because of changes in conditions. 
 

Report on the audit of the key performance indicators 
Opinion 
I have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the key performance indicators of the 
Department of the Registrar, Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission for the year 
ended 30 June 2021. The key performance indicators are the Under Treasurer-approved key 
effectiveness indicators and key efficiency indicators that provide performance information about 
achieving outcomes and delivering services. 
 
In my opinion, in all material respects, the key performance indicators of the Department of the 
Registrar, Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission are relevant and appropriate to 
assist users to assess the Department’s performance and fairly represent indicated performance 
for the year ended 30 June 2021. 
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Emphasis of Matter 
As reported in the key performance indicators, the Department has not reported key efficiency 
indicators for Service 2 “Conciliation and Arbitration by the Western Australian Industrial 
Relations Commission”. Service 2 relates to the Commission which was established under the 
Industrial Relations Act 1979. As the Commission is an affiliated body and not subject to the 
operational control of the Department, key efficiency indicators are not reported for the 
Commission by the Department. My audit opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

The Chief Executive Officer’s responsibilities for the key performance indicators 
The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key 
performance indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the 
Treasurer’s Instructions and for such internal control as the Chief Executive Officer determines 
necessary to enable the preparation of key performance indicators that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the key performance indicators, the Department is responsible for identifying key 
performance indicators that are relevant and appropriate, having regard to their purpose in 
accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 904 Key Performance Indicators. 

Auditor General’s responsibilities  
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility as an assurance practitioner is to 
express an opinion on the key performance indicators. The objectives of my engagement are to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the key performance indicators are relevant and 
appropriate to assist users to assess the entity’s performance and whether the key performance 
indicators are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes my opinion. I conducted my engagement in accordance with 
Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3000 Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or 
Reviews of Historical Financial Information issued by the Australian Auditing and Assurance 
Standards Board. That standard requires that I comply with relevant ethical requirements relating 
to assurance engagements. 
 
An assurance engagement involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the key performance indicators. It also involves evaluating the 
relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators against the criteria and 
guidance in Treasurer’s Instruction 904 for measuring the extent of outcome achievement and 
the efficiency of service delivery. The procedures selected depend on my judgement, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In 
making these risk assessments I obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the 
engagement in order to design procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. 
 
I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. 

My independence and quality control relating to the reports on controls and key 
performance indicators 
I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor General Act 2006 and the 
relevant ethical requirements relating to assurance engagements. In accordance with ASQC 1 
Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Financial Reports and Other 
Financial Information, and Other Assurance Engagements, the Office of the Auditor General 
maintains a comprehensive system of quality control including documented policies and 
procedures regarding compliance with ethical requirements, professional standards and 
applicable legal and regulatory requirements. 
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Other information 
The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information is the 
information in the entity’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2021, but not the financial 
statements, key performance indicators and my auditor’s report.  
 
My opinions do not cover the other information and, accordingly, I do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.  

Matters relating to the electronic publication of the audited financial statements 
and key performance indicators 
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements, controls and key performance indicators 
of the Department of the Registrar, Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission for the 
year ended 30 June 2021 included on the Department’s website. The Department’s management 
is responsible for the integrity of the Department’s website. This audit does not provide 
assurance on the integrity of the Department’s website. The auditor’s report refers only to the 
financial statements, controls and key performance indicators described above. It does not 
provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from these 
financial statements, controls or key performance indicators. If users of the financial statements, 
controls and key performance indicators are concerned with the inherent risks arising from 
publication on a website, they are advised to contact the entity to confirm the information 
contained in the website version of the financial statements, controls and key performance 
indicators. 
 
 
 
 
Sandra Labuschagne 
Deputy Auditor General  
Delegate of the Auditor General for Western Australia 
Perth, Western Australia  
13 August 2021
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Disclosures and Legal Compliance

Certification of  
Financial Statements

Certification of Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2021

The accompanying financial statements of the Department of the Registrar, Western Australian 
Industrial Relations Commission have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial 
Management Act 2006 (WA) from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 and the financial position as at 30 June 2021.

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars 
included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

						   

Susan Bastian							       Michael Hadfield 
Accountable Authority						      Chief Finance Officer 
13 August 2021							       13 August 2021
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PRIMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2021 2020
$000 $000

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense 2.1 6,384                6,284               
Supplies and services 2.2 1,505                1,568               
Depreciation and amortisation expense 4.1.1 4.2 508                   472                  

4.3.1
Finance costs 6.2 6                       5                      
Accommodation expenses 2.2 3,404                3,271               
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 2.3 3                       -                      
Other expenses 2.2 500                   463                  
Total Cost of Services 12,310              12,063             

INCOME
User charges and fees 3.2 27                     27                    
Other income 3.3 135                   325                  
Total Income 162                352               

Total Income other than Income from 
State Government 162                   352                  

NET COST OF SERVICES 12,148              11,711             

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 3.1 11,917              11,812             
Resources received 3.1 14                     16                    
Total Income from State Government 11,931              11,828             

(DEFICIT)/SURPLUS  FOR THE PERIOD (217)                  117                  

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Changes in asset revaluation surplus                         -                        - 
Total Other Comprehensive Income                         -                        - 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD (217)                  117                  

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION

NOTE



Annual Report 2021  |  Department of the Registrar Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission30

Financial Statements

Annual Report 2021  |  Department of the Registrar, Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission30

PRIMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2021 2020
$000 $000

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6.3 4,628             5,407             
Receivables 5.1 221                194                
Amounts receivable for services 5.2 160                160                
Other assets 5.3 72                  74                  
Total Current Assets 5,081             5,835             

Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6.3 170                140                
Amounts receivable for services 5.2 3,141             2,755             
Property, plant and equipment 4.1 1,189             1,348             
Right-of-use assets 4.2 100                146                
Intangible assets 4.3 6                    -                     
Total Non-Current Assets 4,606             4,389             
TOTAL ASSETS 9,687             10,224           

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 5.4 209                502                
Lease liabilities 6.1 39                  46                  
Employee related provisions 2.1(b) 1,187             1,166             
Total Current Liabilities 1,435             1,714             

Non-Current Liabilities
Lease liabilities 6.1 65                  104                
Employee related provisions 2.1(b) 259                310                
Total Non-Current Liabilities 324                414                
TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,759             2,128             

NET ASSETS 7,928             8,096             

EQUITY
Contributed equity 8.8 101                52                  
Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 7,827             8,044             
TOTAL EQUITY 7,928             8,096             

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2021

DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION
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PRIMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONTRIBUTED 
EQUITY

ACCUMULATED 
SURPLUS / 

(DEFICIT)

TOTAL 
EQUITY

$000 $000 $000

Balance at 1 July 2019 -                        7,927                  7,927    
Surplus -                        117                     117       
Total comprehensive income for the year 8.8                          - 117                     117       

Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners: 8.8

Capital appropriations 52                      
Distributions to owners -                        -                          -            
Total 52                      8,044                  8,096    

Balance at 30 June 2020 52                      8,044                  8,096    

Balance at 1 July 2020 52                      8,044                  8,096    
Surplus -                        (217)                    (217)      
Total comprehensive income for the year 8.8 -                        (217)                    (217)      

Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners: 8.8

Capital appropriations 49                      -                          49         
Distributions to owners -                        -                          -            

Total 49                      -                          49         
Balance at 30 June 2021 101                    7,827                  7,928    

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION

NOTE
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PRIMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2021 2020
$000 $000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriations 11,371              11,261              
Capital appropriations 49                     52                     
Holding account drawdowns 160                   160                   
Net cash provided by State Government 11,580              11,473              

Utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits (6,393)               (6,218)               
Supplies and services (1,793)               (1,339)               
Finance costs (6)                      (5)                      
Accommodation (3,409)               (3,258)               
GST payments on purchases (617)                  (536)                  
Other payments (539)                  (469)                  

Receipts
User charges and fees 27                     42                     
Other receipts 129                   267                   
GST receipts on sales 21                     39                     
GST receipts from taxation authority 607                   483                   

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (11,973)             (10,994)             

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Purchase of non-current physical assets (316)                  (160)                  
Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets                        8                         - 

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (308)                  (160)                  

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Principal element of lease payments                     (48)                     (49)

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities (48)                    (49)                    

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (749)                  270                   
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 5,547                5,277                
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE 
PERIOD 6.3 4,798                5,547                

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION
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PRIMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2021 2021 2021

Budget
Revised 
Budget ACTUAL VARIANCE

$000 $000 $000 $000
Delivery Services
Item 14 Net amount appropriated to 
deliver services 9,476            9,476            9,476            -                   
Amount Authorised by Other Statutes  
- Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 2,441            2,441            2,441            -                   
Total appropriations provided to 
deliver services 11,917          11,917          11,917          -                   
Capital  
Item 100 Capital Contribution 49                 49                 49                 -                   
GRAND TOTAL 11,966          11,966          11,966          -                   

No supplementary funding was received by the Department in 2020-21.

SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNT APPROPRIATIONS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION
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1.  Basis of preparation

General

Statement of compliance

Basis of preparation

Judgements and estimates

The FMA and TIs take precedence over AASs. Several AASs are modified by TIs to vary
application, disclosure format and wording. Where modification is required and has had a
material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that modification
and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars applying the accrual basis of
accounting and using the historical cost convention. Certain balances will apply a different
measurement basis (such as the fair value basis). Where this is the case the different
measurement basis is disclosed in the associated note. All values are rounded to the
nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about financial
information being presented. The significant judgements and estimates made in the
preparation of these financial statements are disclosed in the notes where amounts affected
by those judgements and/or estimates are disclosed. Estimates and associated assumptions
are based on professional judgements derived from historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

The Department is a WA Government entity and is controlled by the State of Western
Australia, which is the ultimate parent. The Department is a not-for-profit entity (as profit is
not its principal objective).

A description of the nature of its operations and its principal activities have been included in
the ‘Overview’ which does not form part of these financial statements.

These annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Accountable Authority of 
the Department on 13 August 2021.

These general purpose financial statements are prepared in accordance with:
1) The Financial Management Act 2006 (FMA)
2) The Treasurer’s Instructions (TIs)
3) Australian Accounting Standards (AAS) - Reduced Disclosure Requirements
4) Where appropriate, those AAS paragraphs applicable for not-for-profit entities have been
applied.
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DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Contributed equity

AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector
Entities requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a
restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner)
as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to, transfer) before such transfers can be
recognised as equity contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as
contributions by owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public
Sector Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.
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2.  Use of our funding

Expenses incurred in the delivery of services

Notes 2021 2020
$000 $000

Employee benefits expense 2.1 (a) 6,384         6,284         
Employee related provisions 2.1 (b) 1,446         1,476         
Other expenditure 2.2 5,409         5,302         
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 2.3 3                -                 

DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

This section provides additional information about how the Department’s funding is applied and
the accounting policies that are relevant for an understanding of the items recognised in the
financial statements. The primary expenses incurred by the Department in achieving its
objectives and the relevant notes are:
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DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

2.1 (a) Employee benefits expense
2021 2020
$000 $000

Employee benefits 5,489         5,406         
Termination benefits 370            366            
Superannuation - defined contribution plans 525            512            
Total employee benefits expenses 6,384         6,284         
Add: AASB16 Non-monetary benefits 56              60              
Less: Employee contributions -                 -                 
Net employee benefits 6,440         6,344         

Employee benefits: Include wages, salaries and social contributions, accrued and paid leave
entitlements and paid sick leave; and non-monetary benefits (such as medical care, housing,
cars and free or subsidised goods or services) for employees.

AASB 16 Non-monetary benefits: Non-monetary employee benefits, that are employee
benefits expenses, predominantly relate to the provision of Vehicle and Housing benefits are
measured at the cost incurred by the Department.

Termination benefits: Payable when employment is terminated before normal retirement
date, or when an employee accepts an offer of benefits in exchange for the termination of
employment. Termination benefits are recognised when the Department is demonstrably
committed to terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal
plan without possibility of withdrawal or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer
made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the
end of the reporting period are discounted to present value.
Superannuation: The amount recognised in profit or loss of the Statement of Comprehensive
Income comprises employer contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the
WSS, the GESBs, or other superannuation funds.
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DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

2.1 (b) Employee related provisions

2021 2020
$000 $000

Current
Employee benefits provision
Annual leave(a) 550            550            
Long service leave(b) 628            607            

1,178         1,157         
Other provisions
Employment on-costs(c) 9                9                
Total current employee related provisions 1,187         1,166         

Non-current 
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave(b) 257            308            

257            308            
Other provisions
Employment on-costs(c) 2                2                
Total non-current employee related provisions 259            310            

Total 1,446         1,476         

(a) Annual leave liabilities: Classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer
settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 

The provision for annual leave is calculated at the present value of expected payments to be
made in relation to services provided by employees up to the reporting date.

(b) Long service leave liabilities: Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified
as current liabilities as the Department does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current
liabilities because the Department has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the
liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of service.

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of annual leave and long
service leave for services rendered up to the reporting date and recorded as an expense
during the period the services are delivered.
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DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

2021 2020
$000 $000

Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of period 11              11              
Additional / (reversals of) provisions recognised -                 -                 
Carrying amount at end of period 11              11              

Key sources of estimation uncertainty – long service leave

• Expected future salary rates
• Discount rates
• Employee retention rates; and
• Expected future payments

Several estimates and assumptions are used in calculating the Department’s long service
leave provision. These include:

Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long
service leave provision.

Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of long service leave liabilities is
recognised as employee benefits expense.

The provision for long service leave are calculated at present value as the Department does
not expect to wholly settle the amounts within 12 months. The present value is measured
taking into account the present value of expected future payments to be made in relation to
services provided by employees up to the reporting date. These payments are estimated using
the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement, and discounted using
market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to
maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

(c) Employment on-costs: The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives
rise to the payment of employment on-costs including workers’ compensation insurance. The
provision is the present value of expected future payments.

Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits
and are recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they
relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Other expenses, Note 2.2
(apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost))’ and are not included as part of the
Department’s ‘employee benefits expense’. The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-
costs provision’.

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and
various other factors that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

2.2 Other expenditure

2021 2020
$000 $000

Supplies and Services
Consumables 318            300            
Communications 150            174            
Court Reporting 85              84              
Equipment Purchases 91              30              
Professional Services 802            909            
Lease, Rental & Hiring -                 -                 
Other Expenses 59              71              
Total supplies and services expenses 1,505         1,568         

Accommodation expenses
Rental 2,845         2,740         
Outgoings expense 519            491            
Cleaning 40              40              
Total accommodation expenses 3,404         3,271         

Other
Repairs and Maintenance 348            376            
Employment on-cost 68              28              
Audit Fees 84              59              
Other -                 -                 
Total other expenses 500            463            
Total other expenditure 5,409         5,302         

Supplies and services expenses are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in
which they are incurred. The carrying amounts of any materials held for distribution are
expensed when the materials are distributed.

Repairs, maintenance and cleaning costs are recognised as expenses as incurred.

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in
normal operations.

Rental expenses includes the lease for the accommodation. The lease payment are
recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term.
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DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

2.3 Loss on disposal of non-current assets
2021 2020
$000 $000

Net proceeds from disposal of non-current assets
Plant and equipment 8                -                 

Carrying amount of non-current assets disposed
Plant and equipment (11)             -                 
Net profit/(loss) on disposal (3)               -                 

Loss on disposal of non-current assets

Gains and losses on the disposal of non-current assets are presented by deducting from the
proceeds on disposal the carrying amount of the asset and related selling expenses. Gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss in the Statement of Comprehensive Income (from
the proceeds of sale).

Building and infrastructure maintenance and equipment repairs and maintenance:
Repairs and maintenance costs are recognised as expenses as incurred, except where they
relate to the replacement of a significant component of an asset. In that case, the costs are
capitalised and depreciated.

Employee on-cost includes workers’ compensation insurance and other employment on-
costs. The on-costs liability associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave
liabilities is included at Note 2.1(b) Employee related provisions. Superannuation contributions
accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not included in
employment on-costs.
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3.  Our funding sources

How we obtain our funding

Notes 2021 2020
$000 $000

Income from State Government 3.1 11,931    11,828    
User Fees and Charges 3.2 27           27           
Other Revenue 3.3 135         325         

DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

This section provides additional information about how the Department obtains its funding and
the relevant accounting policy notes that govern the recognition and measurement of this
funding. The primary income received by the Department and the relevant notes are:
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DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

3.1 Income from State Government
2021 2020
$000 $000

Appropriation received during the year:
Service appropriations 11,917    11,812    
Total appropriation received 11,917    11,812    

Department of Finance - Lease Expenses 12           13           
State Solicitors Office - Legal Expense 2             3             
Total resources received 14           16           

Total income from State Government 11,931    11,828    

3.2 User Charges and Fees 
2021 2020
$000 $000

Document Lodgements 21           22           
Transcript Sales 6             5             

27           27           

Resources received from other public sector entities are recognised as income (and
assets or expenses) equivalent to the fair value of the assets, or the fair value of those
services that can be reliably determined and which would have been purchased if not donated.

Resources received from other State government entities during the 
period:

Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the
Department gains control of the appropriated funds. The Department gains control of
appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited in the bank account or credited to the
holding account held at Treasury.

User Charges and Fees: Revenue is recognised when the transaction or event giving rise to
the revenue occurs. The performance obligations for these user fees and charges are satisfied
when services have been provided.

Revenue is recognised at the transaction price when the Department transfers control of the
services to customers. Revenue is recognised for the major activities as follows:
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DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

3.3 Other Revenue
2021 2020
$000 $000

City of Perth Inquiry1 -              324         
Perth Casino Royal Commission2 81           -              
Hire of room 15           1             
Insurance refund 39           -              

135         325         

2 The Department is currently holding a contract with the Department of Premier and Cabinet in
relation to the Perth Casino Royal Commission. Hearings commenced in April 2021 with the
estimated expiry date of the contract in December 2021.

1 The Department held a contract with the Department of Local Government, Sport and
Cultural Industries in relation to the Inquiry into the City of Perth. The contract ended on 30
June 2020 with a hearing on the same day marking the end of the Inquiry.

Other Revenue: The Department receives revenue, from time to time on hosting other
government departments, for the use of accommodation facilities and infrastructure. Revenue
is recognised on an accrual basis in the current financial year in which the accommodation
facilities and infrastructure were provided.
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4.  Key assets

Assets the Department utilises for economic benefit or service potential

Notes 2021 2020
$000 $000

Property, plant and equipment 4.1 1,189    1,341   
Right-of-use assets 4.2 100       146      
Intangible assets 4.3 6           7          
Total key assets 1,295    1,494   

DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

This section includes information regarding the key assets the Department utilises to gain
economic benefits or provide service potential. The section sets out both the key accounting
policies and financial information about the performance of these assets:
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Initial recognition

Subsequent measurement

4.1.1 Depreciation and impairment 
Charge for the period

Notes 2021 2020
$000 $000

Depreciation
Leasehold improvements 4.1 308           282         
Furniture fixtures and fittings 4.1 8               5             
Computer hardware 4.1 41             65           
Plant and equipment 4.1 100           64           
Total depreciation for the period 457           416         

Finite useful lives

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the historical cost is used for the measurement of
property, plant and equipment. Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure, costing $5,000 or more are
measured initially at cost. Where an asset is acquired for no or nominal cost, the cost is valued
at its fair value at the date of acquisition. Items of property, plant and equipment and
infrastructure costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which are
significant in total).

The cost of a leasehold improvement is capitalised and depreciated over the shorter of the
remaining term of the lease or the estimated useful life of the leasehold improvement.

As at 30 June 2021,  there were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment.

All surplus assets at 30 June 2021 have either been classified as assets held for sale or have
been written-off.

All property, plant and equipment having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated
over their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future
economic benefits. The exceptions to this rule include assets held for sale, land and
investment properties.
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DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Asset Useful life: years
Plant and equipment 3 to 5 years
Computer equipment 3 to 4 years
Furniture and Fittings 4 to 5 years
Leasehold Improvements Lease Term

Impairment

If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in impairment, the carrying amount shall
be increased to its recoverable amount. However this reversal should not increase the asset’s
carrying amount above what would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation,
if no impairment loss had been recognised in prior years.

Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight line basis, at rates that allocate the asset’s
value, less any estimated residual value, over its estimated useful life. Typical estimated useful
lives for the different asset classes for current and prior years are included in the table below:

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each annual reporting period, and adjustments should be made where appropriate.

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful
lives.

Non-financial assets, including items of plant and equipment, are tested for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. Where there is an indication of
impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than
the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable
amount and an impairment loss is recognised.

Where an asset measured at cost is written down to its recoverable amount, an impairment
loss is recognised through profit or loss.

Where a previously revalued asset is written down to its recoverable amount, the loss is
recognised as a revaluation decrement through other comprehensive income.

As the Department is a not-for-profit Department, the recoverable amount of regularly revalued
specialised assets is anticipated to be materially the same as fair value.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is
materially understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant
change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the
accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of the
asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from declining
replacement costs.
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DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

4.2 Right-of-use assets
2021 2020
$000 $000

Right-of-use assets
Vehicles 100           146         
Net carrying amount 100           146         

Additions to right-of-use assets during the 2021 financial year were $3,745.

Initial recognition
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost including the following:

Subsequent measurement

Depreciation and impairment of right-of-use assets

The Department has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-
term leases (with a lease term of 12 months or less) and low value leases (with an underlying
value of $5,000 or less). Lease payments associated with these leases are expensed over a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement of right-of-use assets, requiring the
asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses and adjusted for any re-measurement of lease liability.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term
and the estimated useful lives of the underlying assets.

Right-of-use assets are tested for impairment when an indication of impairment is identified.
The policy in connection with testing for impairment is outlined in note 4.1.1

•  the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability
•  any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives 
received
•  any initial direct costs, and
•  restoration costs, including dismantling and removing the underlying asset

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Agency at the end of the lease term or the cost
reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful
life of the asset.

This includes all leased assets other than investment property ROU assets, which are
measured in accordance with AASB 140 ‘Investment Property’.
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DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

2021 2020
$000 $000

Vehicles 50             55
Total right-of-use asset depreciation 50             55
Lease interest expense 6               5
Short-term leases - -
Low-value leases - -

The total cash outflow for leases in 2021 was $48,466.

The Department’s leasing activities and how these are accounted for:

The Department has leases for vehicles and office accommodation.
The Department has also entered into a Memorandum of Understanding Agreements (MOU)
with the Department of Finance for the leasing of office accommodation. These are not
recognised under AASB 16 because of substitution rights held by the Department of Finance
and are accounted for as an expense as incurred.

The Department recognises leases as right-of-use assets and associated lease liabilities in the
Statement of Financial Position.

The following amounts relating to leases have been recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income:

The corresponding lease liabilities in relation to these right-of-use assets have been disclosed
in note 6.1.
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DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

4.3 Intangible assets

Year ended 30 June 2021 Licences
Computer 
software Total

$000 $000 $000
1 July 2020
Gross carrying amount 8               430           438         
Accumulated amortisation (8)              (430)          (438)        
Carrying amount at start of period -                -                -              

Transfers -                7               7             
Additions -                -                -              
Amortisation expense -                (1)              (1)            
Carrying amount at end of period -                6               6             

Initial recognition

Costs incurred in the research phase of a project are immediately expensed.

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible
assets costing $50,000 or more that comply with the recognition criteria as per AASB 138.57,
are capitalised.

Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.

An internally generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development
phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following are demonstrated:

(a) the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use
or sale;
(b) an intention to complete the intangible asset, and use or sell it;
(c) the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
(d) the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefit;
(e) the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the intangible asset; and
(f) the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at significantly less than
fair value, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.
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DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Subsequent measurement

4.3.1 Amortisation and impairment

Charge for the period
2021 2020
$000 $000

Computer Licenses -                -              
Computer Software 1               -              
Total amortisation for the period 1               -              

As at 30 June 2021 there were no indications of impairment to intangible assets.

Software (a) 3 to 5 years
Licences 3 to 5 years

 (a) Software that is not integral to the operation of related hardware.

Impairment of intangible assets

The policy in connection with testing for impairment is outlined in note 4.1.1.

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement of intangible assets, requiring the
asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses.

The Department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the
reporting period. At the end of the reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet
available for use.

Amortisation of finite life intangible assets is calculated on a straight line basis at rates that
allocate the asset’s value over its estimated useful life. All intangible assets controlled by the
Department have a finite useful life and zero residual value. Estimated useful lives are
reviewed annually.
The estimated useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for impairment annually or when an
indication of impairment is identified.
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5.  Other assets and liabilities

Notes 2021 2020
$000 $000

Receivables 5.1 221         194         
Amounts receivable for services 5.2 3,301      2,915      
Other assets 5.3 72           74           
Payables 5.4 209         502         

DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from the Department’s controlled
operations and includes other assets utilised for economic benefits and liabilities incurred
during normal operations:
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DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

5.1 Receivables
2021 2020

Current $000 $000
Trade receivables 173         105         
GST receivable 48           89           
Total current receivables 221         194         

5.2. Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)
2021 2020
$000 $000

Current 160         160         
Non-Current 3,141      2,755      
Balance at end of period 3,301      2,915      

5.3. Other assets
2021 2020

Current $000 $000
Prepayments 72           74           
Balance at end of period 72           74           

5.4. Payables
2021 2020

Current $000 $000
Trade payables 29           33           
Accrued expenses 61           383         
Accrued salaries 78           57           
FBT and Tax Payables 41           29           
Total current 209         502         

Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less any allowances for uncollectible
amounts (i.e. impairment). The carrying amount of net trade receivables is equivalent to fair
value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.

Amounts receivable for services represent the non-cash component of service
appropriations. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of
leave liability.
Amounts receivable for services are considered not impaired (i.e. there is no expected
credit loss of the Holding Account).

Other non-financial assets include prepayments which represent payments in advance of
receipt of goods or services or that part of expenditure made in one accounting period
covering a term extending beyond that period.
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DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Department becomes obliged to
make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is
equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally within 30 days.

Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the reporting
period. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight after the reporting period. The
Department considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair
value.
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6.  Financing

Notes
Lease liabilities 6.1
Finance costs 6.2
Cash and cash equivalents 6.3

DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

This section sets out the material balances and disclosures associated with the financing and
cashflows of the Department.
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DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

6.1. Lease liabilities

2021 2020
$000 $000

Current 39           46           
Non-current 65           104         

104         150         

Initial measurement

Lease payments included by the Department as part of the present value calculation of lease
liability include:

• Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable;

•  Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate initially measured
using the index or rate as at the commencement date;

The Department measures a lease liability, at the commencement date, at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted using
the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Agency uses
the incremental borrowing rate provided by Western Australia Treasury Corporation.

• The exercise price of purchase options (where these are reasonably certain to be
exercised);
• Payments for penalties for terminating a lease, where the lease term reflects the agency
exercising an option to terminate the lease.

•  Amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

The interest on the lease liability is recognised in profit or loss over the lease term so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period. Lease liabilities do not include any future changes in variable lease payments (that
depend on an index or rate) until they take effect, in which case the lease liability is
reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Periods covered by extension or termination options are only included in the lease term by the
Department if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated).

Variable lease payments, not included in the measurement of lease liability, that are
dependent on sales are recognised by the Department in profit or loss in the period in which
the condition that triggers those payments occurs.

This section should be read in conjunction with note 4.2 Right-of-use assets.
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DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Subsequent Measurement

6.2 Finance costs
Notes 2021 2020

$000 $000
Lease interest expense 6             5             
Finance costs expensed 6             5             

6.3 Cash and cash equivalents
2021 2020
$000 $000

Cash and cash equivalent 4,628      5,407      
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Non-current

-   Accrued salaries suspense account (a) 170         140         
Balance at end of period 4,798      5,547      

(a) Funds held in the suspense account for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a reporting period that occurs
every 11th year. This account is classified as non-current for 10 out of 11 years.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash
and cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and
which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

Finance costs includes the interest component of lease liability repayments, and the increase
in financial liabilities and non-employee provisions due to the unwinding of discounts to reflect
the passage of time.

Lease liabilities are measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the
lease liabilities; reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made; and
remeasuring the carrying amount at amortised cost, subject to adjustments to reflect any
reassessment or lease modifications.

The accrued salaries suspense account consists of amounts paid annually, from agency
appropriations for salaries expense, into a Treasury suspense account to meet the additional
cash outflow for employee salary payments in reporting periods with 27 pay days instead of
the normal 26. No interest is received on this account.
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7.  Financial instruments and Contingencies

Notes
Financial instruments 7.1
Contingent assets and liabilities 7.2

DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021
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DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

7.1. Financial instruments

2021 2020
$000 $000

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4,798      5,547      
Financial assets at amortised cost (a) 3,474      3,020      
Total financial assets 8,272      8,567      

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (b) 168         473         
Total financial liability 168         473         

7.2 Contingent assets and liabilities
The Department has no known contingent liabilities or assets.

(b) The amount of Financial liabilities at amortised cost excludes GST payable to the ATO (statutory payable)

(a) The amount of loans and receivables/Financial assets at amortised cost excludes GST recoverable from the 
ATO (statutory receivable).

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial
liabilities at the end of the reporting period are:
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8.  Other disclosures

Notes
Events occurring after the end of the reporting period 8.1
Changes in accounting policies 8.2
Key Management Personnel 8.3
Related Party Transactions 8.4
Related bodies 8.5
Affiliated bodies 8.6
Remuneration of Auditor 8.7
Equity 8.8
Supplementary financial information 8.9
Explanatory Statement 8.10

DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or other
pronouncements, for the understanding of this financial report.
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DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

8.1.  Events occurring after the end of the reporting period 

8.2 Changes in accounting policies

The Department is not aware of any events occurring after the reporting date that materially
affect these financial statements.

The Department has not made any changes to its accounting policies that would impact on the
reported results of the Department.

The Department assessed the impact of AASB 1059 Service Concession Arrangements and
determined that the Department does not hold any such arrangements.
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8.3  Key management personnel

Compensation Band ($) 2021 2020
250,001 - 260,000 1           1                  
170,001 - 180,000 1           1                  
160,001 - 170,000 -            1                  
150,001 - 160,000 1           -
140,001 - 150,000 1           2                  
100,001 - 110,0001 1           -
10,001 - 20,0001 1           -

$000 $000
Total compensation of senior officers 857       887              

8.4. Related Party Transactions

Related parties of the Department include:
•  all cabinet ministers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly          
controlled entities; 
•  all senior officers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled 
entities;

•  other agencies and statutory authorities, including related bodies, that are included in the 
whole of government consolidated financial statements (i.e. wholly-owned public sector entities);

•  associates and joint ventures of a wholly-owned pubic sector entity; and
•  the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB).

The Department is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Western Australia.

DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

The Department has determined key management personnel to include cabinet ministers and
senior officers of the Department. The Department does not incur expenditures to compensate
Ministers and those disclosures may be found in the Annual Report on State Finances .

The total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for senior
officers of the Department for the reporting period are presented within the following bands:

Total compensation includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Department in respect
of senior officers.
1. During the 2021 financial year the position of Deputy Registrar was vacated in March 2021 and re-filled in May
2021. For comparative purposes the total number of Key management personnel in the Compensation Band in both
financial years was the same.
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DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Material transactions with related parties

8.5 Related bodies

8.6 Affiliated bodies

8.7 Remuneration of Auditor

2021 2020
$000 $000

48         47                
48         47                

Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial year
is as follows:

Auditing the accounts, financial statements, controls and key 
performance indicators

Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the Department, there were no other related party
transactions that involved key management personnel and/or their close family members and/or
their controlled (or jointly controlled) entities.

The Department of the Registrar, Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission does not 
have any related bodies.

The Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission (WAIRC) is an affiliated body in that it
received administrative support of $7,183,000 (2020: $7,143,000) from the Department. The
WAIRC is not subject to operational control by the Department.

The Department met all the operational expenses from money appropriated to the Department for
that purpose as identified under the service titled "Conciliation and Arbitration by the Western
Australian Industrial Relations Commission”. The service provides for the salaries and
contingencies of Commission Members and their direct support staff and services. Details on the
operations of the Commission are reported in the Chief Commissioner's Annual Report to the
Minister made pursuant to section 16, subsection (2)(b) of the Industrial Relations Act 1979 .
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DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

8.8 Equity
2021 2020
$000 $000

CONTRIBUTED EQUITY
Balance at start of period 52         -                   

Contributions by owners
Capital appropriation 49         52                
Total contributions by owners 101       52                

Distributions to owners
Repayment of funds to consolidated account -            -                   
Total distributions to owners -            -                   
Balance at end of period 101       52                

8.9 Supplementary financial information

(a) Write-offs

(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes
During the current and prior reporting periods there have been no losses of public property
through theft, default or other causes.

During the current and prior reporting periods there have been no Gifts of public property 
provided by the Department.

During the current reporting period items to the value of $876 were written off by the Acocuntable
Authority. In the prior reporting period, there were no Write-offs.

(c) Gifts of public property
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Audited Key Performance Indicators 

Audited Key  
Performance Indicators

Certification of Key Performance Indicators for the year ended 30 June 2021

I hereby certify that the Key Performance Indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and 
appropriate for assisting users to assess the Department of the Registrar, Western Australian Industrial 
Relations Commission’s performance and fairly represent the performance of the Department for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2021.

Susan Bastian

Accountable Authority 
13 August 2021
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Audited Key  
Performance Indicators
The Department’s mission is: 

	ß To provide the Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission, and the Industrial Magistrates 
Court with the support and services integral to enabling the operation of the industrial relations 
regime in Western Australia. 

	ß To provide enhanced knowledge and support services to enable the general community, unions, 
employer associations and government agencies, to access the industrial relations jurisdictions of 
the Commission, IMC and IAC, and to ensure registered organisations comply with their Industrial 
Relations Act 1979 (WA) obligations.

Our Agency level desired outcome: The prevention and resolution of industrial relations matters supports 
the Government goal: Financial and Economic Responsibility.

Government 
Goal

Agency Level Desired 
Outcome

Services
Key Effectiveness /  
Efficiency Indicators

Sustainable 
Finances:

Responsible 
financial 
management 
and better 
service delivery

The prevention and 
resolution of industrial 
relations matters

Service 1: 

Support to the Western 
Australian Industrial 
Relations Commission 
and Industrial 
Magistrates Court.

Service 2: 

Conciliation and 
Arbitration by the 
Western Australian 
Industrial Relations 
Commission (WAIRC).

Key Effectiveness Indicators

	ß Timeliness of services

	ß Accuracy and relevance 
of information

Key Efficiency Indicator

	ß Average cost per 
application 

The Department does not 
report on Service 2 which 
relates to the activities of  
the WAIRC as an 
independent Tribunal.

The WAIRC relies on the 
Department to manage 
and report on its financial 
affairs. It is not subject to any 
form of operational control 
or reporting requirements 
by either the Department 
or Government. The WAIRC 
reports directly to Parliament 
via an annual report by the 
Chief Commissioner.
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Broad high level government goals are supported at agency level by more specific desired outcomes. 
Agencies deliver services to achieve these desired outcomes which ultimately contribute to meeting 
the higher-level government goals. The table on the previous page illustrates the relationship between 
agency level desired outcomes and the government goal it contributes to. The key effectiveness 
indicators measure the extent of impact of the delivery of services on the achievement of desired 
outcomes. The key efficiency indicators monitor the relationship between the service delivered and the 
resources used to produce the service.

The Department contributes to the Government’s strategic goal by ensuring the Western Australian 
Industrial Relations Commission (“Commission”) has the necessary resources to effectively prevent or 
resolve disputes between employers and employees. With an effective and efficient means to resolve 
employment relationship conflicts, the community is able to devote its means of production more directly 
to opportunities for investment and growth leading to greater wealth for Western Australians.

Audited Key Performance Indicators
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Audited Key  
Performance Indicators

Key Effectiveness Indicator

Percentage of employers, employees, 
representatives and Commission members satisfied 
with the service provided by the Department of the 
Registrar in relation to timeliness and accuracy and 
relevance of information.

The government has established an industrial 
relations regime that delivers the Western 
Australian public with an efficient and effective 
system for determining the rights and obligations 
of employers and employees and the prevention or 
resolution of employment related disputes between 
employers and employees. The Industrial Relations 
Act 1979 (the Act) established the Western 
Australian Industrial Relations Commission and the 
Industrial Magistrates Court (IMC) for this purpose, 
amongst other objects of the Act.

The Department of the Registrar provides the 
Commissioners and Industrial Magistrates with 
physical and virtual infrastructure in the form 
of court and conciliation rooms, information 
communication technology and cloud-based 
technologies. The Department also provides all the 
requisite human and financial resources necessary 
to deliver the administrative and statutory 
processes integral to the performance of the 
Commission.

The high quality of the service provided by the 
departmental officers is fundamental to the ability 
of the Commission and the IMC to effectively 

perform their roles. Departmental officers provide 
registry services and information to the public.

The Department also aids the public on matters 
of procedures and processes and does so within 
the agreed service levels, designed to maintain 
Commission efficiency.

The Department sought feedback from those 
parties who have dealings with us throughout the 
year using a survey. The purpose of the survey was 
to obtain feedback from external parties on their 
satisfaction with the service provided.

We surveyed 133 individuals, representative 
bodies of employers, employees and government 
agencies. Of those surveyed, 70 responded. 

The following graphs were compiled from responses 
to the client surveys. The parties were asked to 
rate our service on a scale of one to five, where five 
represents an excellent level of service and one 
equates to a poor rating. A rating of three to five 
was considered equivalent to a “Yes” response, 
a rating of two was considered equivalent to an 
“Unsure” response and a one was considered a 
“No”.

Audited Key Performance Indicators
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Timeliness
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Figure 1

Timeliness is a key indicator in that it demonstrates that the systems, procedures and resources are in 
place to deliver a reasonable and acceptable service to the community. Services must be delivered in a 
timely manner to meet customer service standards and the expectations of the Commission.

Our customers were asked to indicate their level of satisfaction with the time taken to respond to their 
needs in all situations, including telephone enquiries, attendance at our office and the timely provision 
of relevant documentation and instructions. The survey returned a satisfaction level of 99% with a 
confidence interval (margin of error) of +/- 1.69 per cent at the 95 per cent confidence level.

The survey results for client satisfaction about Timeliness, exceeded the target by 9% (Figure 1).

Audited Key Performance Indicators
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Accuracy and Relevance
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Figure 2

The ability to conduct our business accurately is vital in enabling the Commission to effectively perform 
its role, therefore it is imperative that we have high standards in the accuracy and relevance of our 
documentation and information provided to our customers. Accuracy and relevance of information are 
key indicators as the community relies on this information to assist in the preparation and presentation of 
matters before the Commission. 

Our customers were asked to assess our service for relevance of information provided to them and how 
well this information was explained and presented. Customers were asked how accurate and up to date 
the documentation was and to what extent it met their individual requirements. The survey showed that 
97% of our customers were satisfied with the accuracy and relevance of information provided to them. 
This reflects a 95% confidence level with a confidence interval (margin of error) of +/- 1.69%. The results 
for the satisfaction level about, Accuracy and Relevance, (Figure 2) has exceeded the target by 7%. The 
department continues to aim for high satisfaction levels from our clients with ongoing effective training 
and development of staff.

Audited Key Performance Indicators
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Key Efficiency Indicator

Service 1: Support to the Western Australian 
Industrial Relations Commission and Industrial 
Magistrates Court.

Service Description

To provide effective and efficient support to the 
Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission, 
allowing that tribunal to provide the community 
with an efficient means of preventing or resolving 
industrial relations matters. This output includes the 
provision of services and support to the Industrial 
Magistrates Court.

The total cost of this service to the Commission 
and Industrial Magistrates Court was $5.127m in 
2020/21 as against the budgeted cost of $5.303m. 
Cost savings of 3% were achieved due to effective 
management of resources. 

The efficiency of this service is measured by the 
average cost per application registered and 
recorded.

It is important that the Registry services, that 
support the Commission in resolving industrial 
relations matters, are provided on a value for 
money basis.

Cost per Application

The cost per application is derived by dividing the 
total cost by the number of applications received. 
This measure is largely determined by legislation 
and the Department has no capacity to influence 
the number of applications lodged.

The graph shown at Figure 3 is based on the 
application numbers registered and recorded 
including Right of Entry applications. 

The number of registered and recorded 
applications for the year was higher than the 
target, and the average cost per application was 
$4,451 which is lower than the target cost per 
application of $5,524. The variance was $1,073 
(19%).  See Figure 3. 

Audited Key Performance Indicators
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Cost Per Application
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Figure 3

The table below illustrates the Cost of Service 1, the number of applications and cost per application for 
each year from 2015/16. 

    Year Cost of Service 1 Number of Applications Cost per Application

    2015/16 $4.687m 1,004 $4,668

    2016/17 $5.025m 976 $5,148

    2017/18 $4.944m 971 $5,092

    2018/19 $4.778m 1,016 $4,703

    2019/20 $4.920m 991 $4,965

    2020/21 $5.127m 1,152 $4,451

    2020/21 Target $5.303m 960 $5,524

Notwithstanding the number of applications received, there is to be a minimum level of infrastructure 
in place to receive and process applications. The number of applications lodged reflects the level of 
community industrial disputation and the Department has no capacity to influence the number of 
applications lodged.

Audited Key Performance Indicators
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Service 2: Conciliation and Arbitration by the Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission.

This service represents the activities of the Independent Court and Tribunal.

As defined in section 60 of the Financial Management Act 2006 and Treasurer’s Instruction 951, the 
Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission is an Affiliated Body of the Department and is serviced 
by the Department. The Commission relies on the Department to manage and report its financial affairs 
but is not subject to any form of operational control or reporting requirements by either the Department 
or Government, as it reports directly to Parliament. Therefore, the Department does not report on the 
performance of the Commission and this service.

Audited Key Performance Indicators
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Disclosures and Legal Compliance

Ministerial  
Directions
No Ministerial directives were received during the financial year.
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Other Financial  
Disclosures

Pricing Policies of Services Provided

All pricing and costing is undertaken in accordance 
with Public Sector Commission circulars and 
the Costing and Pricing Government Services 
guidelines published by the Department of 
Treasury.

Fees and charges for services levied by the 
Department are in accordance with the following 
regulations:

	ß Industrial Relations Commission Regulations 
2005 (WA)

	ß Industrial Relations (General Jurisdiction) 
Regulation 1997 (WA)

	ß Industrial Relations (Industrial Agents) 
Regulations 1997 (WA)

	ß Industrial Magistrates Court (General 
Jurisdiction) Regulations 2005 (WA).

Capital Works

The Capital Works Program is structured around 
the Strategic Asset Plan for the delivery of services 
and ensuring there are efficient and effective 
technologies available to service the operations of 
the Department, the Commission and the IMC.

The capital appropriation is received in line 
with the Strategic Asset Plan and is primarily 
for the replacement of assets which are at the 
end of their useful life. This includes specialised 
and critical audio-visual equipment for court 
facilities, computer hardware, telecommunication 
equipment and photocopiers.

The capital investments for the Department in 
2020/21 included an upgrade of the audio and 
video equipment in hearing and conference 
rooms and miscellaneous upgrades in specialised 
technologies.

Other Statutory Information
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Employment and Industrial Relations

Staff Profile

At 30 June 2021, the Department had 32.2 Full Time Equivalent (FTE) staff. The actual headcount was 33. 

This figure does not include Commissioners or their Associates who are Ministerial appointments.

Employee Headcount 2020 2021

Full time permanent employees 30 28

Full time contract employees 0 3

Full time Secondees 1 0

Part time permanent employees 4 2

Part time contract employees 0 0

Table 7 – Departmental staff headcount

Staff Development

Workforce capability and a shared public sector workforce identity underpin the Department’s  
Strategic Plan. 

The Department’s business planning and performance measurement is derived from the key performance 
requirements of the Chief Executive Officer. 

The Department has undertaken capability reviews across most business units that identified efficiencies 
and enhancements that are being progressively implemented. 

The Department’s existing Workforce and Diversity Plan 2019 – 2022, will be reviewed during the coming 
financial year. 

As part of our commitment to staff development planning, we offer formal mentoring and training for 
managers across the Department.

The Department’s Workforce and Diversity Plan, Job Description Forms and Performance Development 
Program (PDP) articulate the clear connection between an employee’s activities, the goals of government 
and the skill sets required to achieve those goals. It is through the PDP process that the Department 
identifies those areas where staff training is appropriate for existing and future needs. 

Workers Compensation

The Department complies with the Workers Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981 (WA). The 
Department’s Injury Management System and Injury Management Policy framework outlines the steps to 
be taken to assist workers injured in the workplace. No compensation claims were recorded during the 
financial year. 

Other Statutory Information
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Governance  
Disclosures

Contracts with Senior Officers 

As at 30 June 2021, no senior officers, or firms of which senior officers are members, or entities in which 
senior officers have substantial interests, had any interests in existing or proposed contracts with the 
Department of the Registrar, other than normal contracts of employment of service.

This disclosure is reported in accordance with the Treasurer’s Instruction 903(14). 

Risk Management and Business Continuity

Accountability for risk management and business continuity are vested in the Chief Executive Officer 
and the Executive team. The Department’s Governance Framework details the accountabilities and 
responsibilities of each member of the Executive and staff more broadly. 

The risk management policy and business continuity plans outline risk management strategies, plans and 
procedures to address any major interference to business operations and are subject to both routine and 
ad-hoc testing, reporting, maintenance, and enhancement.

The Department promotes a proactive approach to risk management by requiring all employees to 
adhere to policies and processes that accord with legislative requirements applying to the public sector 
in Western Australia. All staff are made aware of their responsibilities through training, management 
meetings and staff communications and are expected to apply appropriate and effective risk 
management practices in their work practices and interaction with the community.

The Executive is responsible for maintaining business continuity in the event of a disaster or an adverse 
event and is confident that the current controls are sufficiently robust and proportionate.

Other Statutory Information
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Other Statutory Information

Other Legal  
Requirements

Unauthorised Use of Credit Cards

All credit cards were used as authorised.

Expenditure on Advertising

In accordance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907 (WA), the Department is required to report 
on expenditure incurred during the financial year in relation to advertising agencies, market research 
organisations, polling organisations, direct mail organisations and media advertising organisations.

Total expenditure for 2020/21 was $16,795. The details of the expenditure are as follows:

Type of Expenditure Value 

Advertising Agencies Nil 

Market Research Organisations Nil 

Polling Organisations Nil 

Direct Mail Organisations Nil 

Media Advertising Organisations 

Initiative Media $9,882

State Law Publisher $1,512

Workplace Express $362

Scott Print $5,039 

Total Expenditure $16,795

Table 8 – Total Advertising Expenditure for 2020/21

Western Australian Multicultural Framework Plan

The Department has developed a Western Australian Multicultural Framework Plan (the Plan) which 
guides various initiatives in an aim to be more culturally inclusive. The purpose of the plan is to review, 
identify, and implement strategies that improve accessibility. 

The key priority areas within the Plan are to promote a harmonious and inclusive workplace, maintain 
strategies that encourage fairness and equality, and promote participation from those of culturally and 
linguistically diverse backgrounds. 

Initiatives range from reviewing existing recruitment policies, to the rolling out of Diverse WA training to  
all employees. 

The plan will be monitored throughout the year to track and review completion.
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Other Legal  
Requirements

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan

The Department is committed to providing 
those with disability or disadvantage access 
to its information, services and facilities. The 
Department’s Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 
(DAIP) addresses barriers to access and inclusion 
by identifying potential solutions for people with 
disability, their families and carers in accordance 
with the Disability Services Act 1993 (WA).

The following is a summary of the initiatives the 
Department focused on during the year. 

Outcome 1: People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to access the 
services of, and any events organised by the 
Department and/or the Commission.

	ß The DAIP Committee will be required by the 
Executive to monitor access and inclusion and 
make recommendations for improvement, in 
accordance with good governance principles 
and legislative obligations

	ß Internal communications will ensure that staff 
and contractors are aware of the requirements 
of the DAIP and ensure that all services are 
accessible to people with disability

	ß The DAIP Committee will conduct a yearly 
audit and ensure all public services and 
resources are accessible for staff and visitors 
with a disability.

Outcome 2: People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to access the 
buildings and other facilities of the Department 
and the Commission.

	ß The Department’s Executive will ensure that 
any planned alterations to the existing facilities 
are conducted and completed in such a 
manner that services and facilities remain 
accessible to people with disability

	ß “Accessibility” information will be maintained 
on all floors of the Commission and 
Department

	ß The “You’re Welcome Access” website will be 
promoted on departmental websites.

Outcome 3: People with disability have the same 
opportunity as other people to access information 
from the Department and the Commission in 
a format that will enable them to access the 
information as readily as other people are able to 
access it.

	ß Public information will be made available in 
alternative formats upon request

	ß Staff will receive training on accessible 
information needs and how to obtain 
information in other formats

	ß Auslan and text services will be provided upon 
request

	ß Websites and content will comply with the 
Website Accessibility Standards established by 
the Office of the Government Chief Information 
Officer.

Other Statutory Information
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Outcome 4: People with disability receive the 
same level and quality of service from the staff 
of the Department and the Commission, as other 
people receive from the staff of the Department 
and the Commission.

	ß Disability awareness information will be 
provided to new staff as part of their induction

	ß Contemporary information regarding access 
and inclusion for people with disability will be 
included on the staff intranet and updated on 
a yearly basis

	ß Service delivery options will take into 
account the full range of disability types, 
including cognitive, intellectual, sensory and 
psychological, in addition to mobility and 
access requirements.

Outcome 5: People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to make complaints 
to the Department and/or the Commission.

	ß A readily accessible complaints process will be 
promoted at the reception desk, public areas 
and website

	ß Complaints received about disability access 
will be responded to in a timely manner

	ß Staff will be sufficiently informed in disability 
and access issues to provide appropriate 
assistance to people with disability making 
complaints.

Outcome 6: People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to participate in 
any public consultation by the Department and/
or the Commission.

	ß Alternative formats will be made available on 
the website, for all members of the public to 
comment on the provision of services offered 
by the Department

	ß All sections of the community will be invited to 
participate in consultation on the proposed 
DAIP 2018-2023, via advertising in the Western 
Australian newspaper and on the Commission 
Website.

Outcome 7: People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to obtain and 
maintain employment within the Department or 
the Commission. 

	ß Maintain current selection and recruitment 
practices that encourage people with a 
disability to apply for advertised roles

	ß Provide support for employees with disability, 
including workplace modifications as required

	ß Ensure appropriate development opportunities 
for career planning for employees with 
disability.
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Other Legal  
Requirements

Compliance with Public Sector Standards 
and Ethical Codes

The Department’s Integrity Framework ensures 
regular review and renewal of its policies, 
procedures and guidelines. Awareness sessions, 
online training and other communications are 
used to ensure that all staff are familiar with the 
accountabilities that come with being employed 
in the public sector and within the Department, 
including Public Sector Standards, Public Sector 
Code of Ethics and the Department’s Code of 
Conduct. 

No disciplinary action was undertaken during this 
reporting period.

Recordkeeping Plan

The Department ensures records are created, 
managed and disposed of in accordance with 
recordkeeping principles and standards issued 
by the State Records Commission (SRC) and the 
requirements of the State Records Act 2000 (WA) 
(SR Act). The Department has a Recordkeeping 
Plan (RKP) as required under the SR Act.

The Department’s RKP was renewed during 2018, 
along with the Retention and Disposal Schedule. 
The renewal process provided assurance that the 
RKP was achieving the intention of the SR Act. 

There is a recordkeeping training program 
in place for all new and existing staff which 
deals with recordkeeping compliance and 
accountabilities, having regard to the employee’s 
role. The Department’s recordkeeping training 
program is reviewed using feedback received 
from participants. The program is also adjusted 
in response to amendments to the SR Act, SRC 
standards and principles and the RKP. 

Training resources, along with the Department’s 
RKP are available on the internal intranet and are 
accessible by staff. 

The Department engages external records 
management consultants to deliver specialised 
records management training to its Records staff.

The structured induction program for new 
employees on commencement with the 
Department ensures that:

	ß a recordkeeping reference manual is 
provided and employees have access to the 
Department’s RKP

	ß the fundamentals of recordkeeping, 
the responsibilities of State government 
organisations, and the responsibilities of 
individual employees under the SR Act and the 
RKP are fully outlined

	ß the Department’s Code of Conduct is provided 
to new employees which reinforces the 
appropriate management of business records.

Other Statutory Information



Annual Report 2021  |  Department of the Registrar, Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission90

Government Policy  
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Occupational Safety, Health and Injury 
Management 

Occupational Safety and Health (OSH)

The Department’s OSH Policy Framework complies 
with the legislative requirements outlined in 
the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 
(WA), the Workers’ Compensation and Injury 
Management Act 1981 (WA) and the Code of 
Practice - Occupational Safety and Health in the 
Western Australian Public Sector.

The Department’s Executive is focused on 
providing a workplace that is free from hazards 
where reasonably practicable, with the objective 
of ensuring the safety and health of all employees, 
contractors and visitors. The Executive works in 
partnership with the OSH Steering Group, the 
OSH Committee, employees, and contractors and 
visitors, to achieve continuous improvement in 
the mental and physical health and safety of our 
people. 

The current OSH Governance Framework 
incorporates details of safety responsibilities 
and the accountabilities of all staff. The OSH 
Policy Framework and its associated policies and 
procedures are subject to ongoing reviews to 
ensure efficiency, compliance and effectiveness.  
Safety discussions occur between managers and 
every employee during respective performance 
management assessments and regular Executive 
meetings.

The Department’s OSH Policy Framework describes 
the following commitments and accountabilities: 

	ß designating primary responsibility for safety 
management to the Chief Executive Officer 
and defining cascading safety responsibilities 
across other management levels through to 
employees, contractors and visitors

	ß identifying specific safety targets and 
objectives 

	ß annual planning drawing on relevant hazard 
and accident incident data, and safety 
performance

	ß scheduling regular Executive and management 
discussions to allow for reporting and 
discussion on safety within the Department

	ß consulting and communicating with employees 
and contractors in relation to safety matters 

	ß Executive support for the operations of the 
OSH Committee.

The Department’s OSH culture is supported in the 
following ways:

	ß all new employees receive an OSH induction, 
that includes information on OSH policies 
and procedures, as well as instruction on their 
obligations and responsibilities

	ß managers include safety awareness as part 
of the performance development process with 
employees

	ß promotion of the formal mechanism for 
consultation and communication of OSH 
matters and for the reporting of hazards and 
incidents 

	ß the offering of a range of health and wellbeing 
initiatives for staff including:

	ß promotion of the Department’s Employee 
Assistance Program

	ß provision of flu vaccinations and eyesight 
screening

	ß onsite visit and assessments from a skin 
cancer clinic professional

	ß ergonomic assessments of workstations  
for staff

	ß regular communication of appropriate 
health advice and recommendations 
supporting the government’s response to 
COVID-19.
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The following strategies are adopted by the Department to promote effective communication and 
consultation with employees and contractors in relation to OSH matters, including:

	ß providing the opportunity for all employees 
and contractors to comment on the draft OSH 
Framework prior to implementation

	ß providing all employees and contractors with 
the opportunity to comment on the draft OSH 
Procedures Manual prior to implementation

	ß providing mechanisms for employees, 
contractors and visitors to communicate and 
report hazards, incidents and safety concerns 
to the OSH Committee

	ß providing training at the time of induction and 
annually, for all employees and contractors on 
their OSH rights and responsibilities

	ß discussion on the OSH rights and responsibilities 
of employees within performance management 
programs

	ß ensuring that OSH remains a standing agenda 
item for management meetings

	ß maintaining an open-door policy for discussion 
of OSH issues between management (at all 
levels) and employees and contractors

	ß providing written information concerning OSH 
matters via email, and providing notification of 
updates to the OSH intranet site, to employees 
and contractors 

	ß displaying OSH related information throughout 
the Department’s premises.
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Performance Reporting

Actual Results Result  Results against Target

Measure
Results  
2018/19

Base year

Results  
2019/20

Prior year

Results  
2020-21

Current year
Target

Comments 
towards 
targets

Number of 
fatalities 

Nil Nil Nil Nil Achieved

Lost time injury/
disease (LTI/D) 
incidence rate 

Nil Nil Nil Nil Achieved

Lost time injury 
severity rate 

Nil Nil Nil Nil Achieved

Percentage of 
injured workers 
returned to 
work: 

(i) within  
13 weeks

(ii) within  
26 weeks 

Nil 
Nil

 
 

Nil 
Nil

 
 

Nil 
Nil

 
 

Nil 
Nil

Zero injuries

Percentage 
of managers 
trained in 
occupational 
safety, health 
and injury 
management 
responsibilities 

100%     100% 100% 100% Achieved

Table 9 – OSH Statistics
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Injury Management

The Department complies with the Workers Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981 (WA). The 
Department’s Injury Management System and Injury Management Policy framework outlines the steps to 
be taken to assist workers injured in the workplace. This involves a combination of specialist assistance 
from external providers and the development of an effective return to work program. 

The Injury Management Policy, Injury Management System and the Return-to-Work program are 
maintained on the Department’s intranet.

The Executive is committed to providing injury management support to all workers who sustain work 
related injury or illness. The focus is on a safe and early return to meaningful work in accordance with the 
Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981 (WA).

The injury management system is designed to be implemented at the time a worker reports a work-
related injury or illness and will continue until a full return to work has been achieved, or is no longer a 
realistic goal, as determined in consultation with the employee, the Department, the treating medical 
practitioner and RiskCover.
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